MANNHEIMER ZENTRUM FÜR EUROPÄISCHE SOZIALFORSCHUNG





Working Paper

Trends in Gender Disparities at the School to Work Transition in Germany

Comparing the Labor Market Entry of Young Men and Women between 1984 and 2005

Marita Jacob Corinna Kleinert Michael Kühhirt

> UNIVERSITÄT MANNHEIM

Marita Jacob Corinna Kleinert Michael Kühhirt

Trends in Gender Disparities at the School to Work Transition in Germany

Comparing the Labor Market Entry of Young Men and Women between 1984 and 2005

Arbeitspapiere – Working Papers

Nr. 127, 2009

Mannheimer Zentrum für Europäische Sozialforschung

Jacob, Marita:

Trends in Gender Disparities at the School to Work Transition in Germany : Comparing the Labor Market Entry of Young Men and Women between 1984 and 2005 / Marita Jacob; Corinna Kleinert; Michael Kühhirt. – Mannheim: 2009 (Arbeitspapiere - Mannheimer Zentrum für Europäische Sozialforschung ; 127) ISSN 1437-8574

Not available in book shops. Token fee: € 3,00 Purchase: Mannheimer Zentrum für Europäische Sozialforschung (MZES), D – 68131 Mannheim WWW: http://www.mzes.uni-mannheim.de

Editorial Note:

Marita Jacob is Assistant Professor of Research Methods in the Social Sciences at the University of Mannheim. She studied sociology, mathematics, and economics at the University of Gießen (Germany) and Westminster University London (UK), was a doctoral research fellow at the Max Planck Institute for Human Development (Berlin) and received her Ph.D. in sociology from the Free University of Berlin in 2003. From 2003 to 2005 she worked as a senior research fellow at the Institute for Employment Research (Nuremberg). Her main research interests are social inequality in education and the transition from school to work. Currently she is working on the educational careers of young adults in Europe and on the impact of couples' education on fertility.

Corinna Kleinert is a senior researcher in the research department 'Education and Employment over the Life Course' at the Institute for Employment Research (IAB) in Nuremberg, Germany. She received her training in Communication Science, Political Science, Public Law and Sociology at the Ludwig-Maximilians University Munich. She worked as researcher at the German Youth Institute (DJI) in Munich (1995–2000) and at the Ludwig-Maximilians University Munich (2002–03). In 2002 she finished her dissertation in Sociology and received a scholarship from the Ludwig-Maximilians University Munich. Corinna Kleinert has published two books and several articles on school-to-work transitions, women in management, labour market research, and youths' political attitudes. Currently she is the head of the IAB working group of the German National Educational Panel Study (NEPS) which is preparing an adult survey within this large-scale research project.

Michael Kühhirt is a PhD candidate at the Graduate School for Economic and Social Sciences at the University of Mannheim where he previously studied sociology and history. Currently he is working at the MZES in a project on the consequences of parenthood for gender inequality in the family and the labor market. His other research interests include educational inequality and the transition from school to work.

Abstract

This paper examines the labor market entry of low- and medium-qualified men and women using representative longitudinal data from the German Socio-Economic Panel. By identifying four consecutive entry cohorts, we analyze trends in gender differences with respect to the duration until they find their first job between the years 1984 and 2005, a period marked by a further increase in young women's educational attainment and continued growth of the service sector. Both developments should benefit women with a lower education more than men in the same group in terms of smooth labor market integration. Results from discrete event history analyses show that today these women indeed find their first job faster than men. However, this is not due to an improvement in young women's chances to find employment, but to deteriorating employment prospects of men leaving the educational system. Our results indicate (1) that women in general are better equipped for the competition for low- and medium-skilled jobs as they have increased their educational attainment more than men, and (2) that the decline of male-dominated occupations in production has led to increased job competition for men, which prolongs particularly low-skilled men's transition from school to work.

Contents

1.	Introduction1
2.	Theoretical Background
2.	1 Secondary education, vocational training, and labor market structure in Germany
2.2	2 Finding the first job – a theoretical model
2.3	3 Education, occupational change, and gender disparities at labor market entry in Germany 4
3.	Data and Statistical Modeling7
4.	Empirical Evidence
4.	1 Descriptive results
4.2	2 Multivariate results
5.	Summary and Conclusion
Refe	erences
Арре	endix19

1. Introduction

Research on the integration of young people into the labor market generally emphasizes the importance of individual educational attainment for a smooth transition from school to work (Breen et al. 1995, Shavit & Müller 1998). A high qualification level minimizes the risk of unemployment and is the foundation for further career advancement. At the same time, the value of education at labor market entry essentially depends on a country's structural and institutional context determining supply and demand regarding specific qualifications (Gangl 2002). An oversupply of highly qualified workers might lead to downward competition with less skilled individuals. Additionally, even labor market entrants with a relatively high educational attainment may face difficulties in finding a job if they have acquired vocational qualifications in an occupation that is in decline as a result of structural changes in the labor market.

Against this background, the growing educational attainment of women during the last few decades together with a continuous shift in the occupational structure from male-dominated jobs in production to jobs in the service sector with a high proportion of women should lead to increasing advantages for female relative to male labor market entrants. Surprisingly, little empirical evidence is available as to whether women were able to transform these theoretical advantages into an actual improvement in finding their first job. From a gender perspective, it is important to examine differences between men and women with respect to the school-to-work transition, since a smooth integration into the labor market has long-lasting positive consequences for the work career (e.g. Korpi et al. 2003, Blossfeld et al. 2006, Blossfeld & Hofmeister 2006). In that sense declining gender disparities in terms of the school-to-work transition are an important prerequisite for a further decrease in gender inequality in the labor market.

In this paper we investigate trends in gender disparities with respect to the transition from school to work in Germany between 1984 and 2005. Whereas most previous research on young people's labor market integration relies on cross-sectional data, we apply a dynamic analytical framework based on detailed longitudinal microdata to evaluate the timing of labor market entry. Moreover, we focus on the transition rates from education to work of men and women with low and medium secondary education only. For this group of labor market entrants, as compared to graduates form higher education, changes in the occupational structure have been particularly gender-biased over the last few years. Whereas the number of jobs in semi-skilled and skilled manual occupations in industry and the crafts, which were traditionally dominated by men, rapidly declined, the number of jobs predominantly occupied by women expanded, e.g. in public administration, health care, or the private services. Moreover, tightened economic conditions accompanied by growing unemployment since the 1980s are likely to affect school leavers with low and medium education first and most severely, especially those without vocational qualifications (Reinberg & Hummel 2006).

Our results indeed indicate a narrowing of the gender gap in terms of the timing of labor market integration of school leavers from low and medium secondary education. However, the main reason behind this process appears to be a deterioration of men's job search prospects, rather than an improvement of the situation of women. Before turning to our empirical findings in more detail, the following two sections provide the theoretical background for our analysis and introduce our data and statistical approach. In the final section we summarize the main findings and draw some general conclusions.

2. Theoretical background

2.1 Secondary education, vocational training, and labor market structure in Germany

Germany's system of secondary education is commonly described as both highly stratified and standardized (Allmendinger 1989). After leaving primary school around the age of 10, children are channeled into one of three different tracks of secondary schooling, depending on their previous performance. The highest-ranking track, the *Gymnasium*, takes nine years to complete and is the only track that enables graduates to enter higher education directly. Alternatively, *Gymnasium* leavers can enter vocational training. Low and medium secondary education, i.e. *Hauptschule* and *Realschule*, are attended until grade 9 and 10 respectively.¹ Graduation from these schools is considered as a prerequisite for entering vocational training, although there is no formal restriction.

The dominant approach to vocational training in Germany is a dual system of schooling and on-the-job training in the form of in-firm apprenticeships (Blossfeld 1992, Müller et al. 1998). Purely school-based vocational training has gained some importance in recent years and is disproportionately often taken up by young women, because occupations in the service sector and health care are often trained at schools only. Still, it is only of minor importance compared to dual training (Hartung & Janik 2006). Similarly to secondary education, the training system is marked by a high degree of segmentation and standardization. There are around 400 different programs for which worker representatives, chambers of trade and industry, and the state collectively set up curricula, examination procedures, and other requirements (Soskice 1994). Generally, school leavers have to apply for apprenticeships in the same way they later apply for regular jobs. Some apprenticeships, e.g. in more demanding intermediate technical and administrative occupations, require at least *Realschule* graduation. Training usually takes 2 to 3 ½ years.

The system of vocational training has important implications for the structure of the labor market as a whole (Marsden 1990, Scherer 2005). As employers are actively involved in the design of training programs, they have detailed knowledge about the skills of trainees. Accordingly, they have rather specific expectations of potential workers and favor those whose training comes closest to the requirements of a given job. This causes employers to often employ young people who completed training in

¹ Although there are differences between the several German federal states in the curricula of each track, the formal requirements to attain the respective certificates are comparable.

their firms, thus fostering a smooth labor market transition. Alongside with these advantages, the system also has potential disadvantages. Former trainees are limited in their choice of jobs at least in the beginning of their work career, as their training only qualifies them for a number of similar occupations.²

As a consequence of the widespread recognition and approval of vocational qualifications, chances of labor market entrants without vocational training are rather small in the competition for well-paid jobs. In the last 20 years, a vocational training certificate has been the minimum entrance ticket into stable employment. Within the vocational system, the mismatch between nearly constant numbers of low-educated school leavers and rising requirements of training firms has been growing, aggravated by a general scarcity of training slots (Seibert & Kleinert 2009). Thus, school dropouts and *Hauptschule* leavers often end up in a series of active labor market measures without a chance to enter an apprenticeship or stable, non-precarious employment.

2.2 Finding the first job – a theoretical model

Modeling the transition process from education to work has to take account of the job searcher's decisions and actions on the one hand and those of the employer on the other hand (Sørensen & Kalleberg 1981, Coleman 1991, Logan 1996). The observed matching of a particular worker to a particular job can be understood as the most suitable outcome for both actors, given their respective opportunity structure and preferences. From the school leaver's perspective, a desirable job provides adequate returns to educational investments in the past in terms of salary, working conditions, or promotion opportunities. For every job offer encountered, the applicant has to decide whether it meets his or her demands or whether it appears more promising to continue the search, even at the cost of unemployment. Similarly, employers will keep rejecting applicants until they find a worker who promises to be the most productive in a given position and to require the least additional training. Hence, a prolonged transition process may be the consequence of employers being dissatisfied with a school leaver's qualification or a worker being unhappy about the quality of the positions currently offered in the market. However, as the search duration for jobs and applicants increases, the likelihood for an adequate match becomes smaller, because the best workers and jobs in the market will already be taken.

Given the lack of previous work experience, qualifications obtained in the educational system are obviously a school leaver's most important resource in the competition for the best jobs, be it as a means to actually increase one's productivity or as a signal of general motivation, ability, and thus low potential training costs (Arum & Shavit 1995, Breen et al. 1995, Shavit & Müller 1998). More specifically, it is the level of education *relative* to that of other labor market entrants that leads to a successful transition from school to work, as this determines an individual's position in the labor queue (Thurow 1975).

² There is some empirical evidence from Germany that changing the occupation an individual was trained in is beneficial in some cases. Thus, dual training seems to impart not only occupational and firm-specific qualifications, but also general human capital. In general, however, the wages of individuals who continue to be employed in their original occupation are higher than they are for those who change their occupation after training (Fitzenberger & Spitz 2004).

Still, the extent to which education actually yields adequate returns depends on the number of applicants with particular credentials as well as on the demand for these credentials among employers. The supply of applicants with certain educational certificates is influenced by the degree of educational expansion a country has experienced. With all other factors being equal, educational expansion implies a gradual devaluation of educational certificates, as their use for employers to effectively discriminate between applicants diminishes once they become widespread. As a result, school leavers from the lower end of the educational system can be expected to experience more and more difficulties with respect to labor market entry in the course of educational expansion.

The demand for certain educational credentials, on the other hand, depends on a country's occupational structure. Two different mechanisms can be expected to operate here. Firstly, a shift towards technologically advanced and knowledge-based occupations entails a heightened demand for education above compulsory levels and potentially sets off devaluation processes triggered by educational expansion (Penn et al. 1994, Müller 2001). Occupational upgrading may worsen the labor market integration chances of low-educated school leavers, since jobs with low levels of education are not in demand anymore. Secondly, in countries such as Germany, Austria or the Netherlands, which offer occupation-specific training as part of their educational system, changes in the relative importance of occupational sectors go beyond an effect on the demand of general education. Because occupational mobility is limited after having completed training, graduates from programs in expanding sectors are likely to encounter favorable conditions as opposed to those trained in occupations with a stagnating or declining number of jobs, even if their formal education is at the same level.

The demand for qualifications is also determined by cyclical economic changes. Empirical evidence suggests that unemployment risks might depend even more strongly on the general economic conditions than on structural changes. Tightening markets are likely to lead to downward competition. Again, this will affect the least qualified labor market entrants most severely (Goubert & Heylan 1996, Gangl 2002, van der Velden & Wolbers 2003, Reinberg & Hummel 2006).

2.3 Education, occupational change, and gender disparities at labor market entry in Germany

How do the above considerations affect gender disparities at labor market entry? An attempt to answer this question needs to compare the educational attainment of young men and women in recent years and evaluate gender-specific trends in the development of the occupational structure. Table 1 shows the percentage of men and women from four birth cohorts who have graduated from the three tracks of secondary school together with the percentage of school dropouts in 2005.³ While women had attained medium secondary education more often than men even in the first cohort, they surpassed men in completing higher secondary education beginning with the birth cohorts 1975–1980. Furthermore, the proportion of women dropping out of school or attaining only low secondary educa-

³ Unfortunately, there are no official data for each individual West German birth cohort. Additionally, the data do not allow for a differentiation between first educational degree and certificates attained later in life.

tion decreased more than that of men. If we look only at individuals below higher secondary education, around 60 percent of women graduated from medium secondary schools in all cohorts, compared to only around 50 percent of men. Over and above these growing advantages of women, the importance of secondary-school certificates has grown over the last few decades. First, the educational expansion resulted in increased competition for apprenticeship positions. Second, occupational upgrading lead to rising skill requirements in the labor market (Müller 2001, Reinberg & Hummel 2006, Schubert & Engelange 2006). Therefore we expect women's advantages in educational attainment to lead to increasing chances for them to find a first job relative to men.

No comparable official data is available that allows us to trace the development in the proportion of graduates from low and medium secondary schools who attained vocational training. However, previous research (Hartung & Janik 2006) using a panel study of German firms shows that around 44 percent of West German entrants into vocational training programs in 2005 were female, a figure equivalent to the overall proportion of women in the labor force. At the same time, women constitute half of the graduates from vocational training. Thus, women appear to be more successful than men in completing a training program once they have entered it. These results further strengthen the notion that women have caught up with and may even outperform men in vocational training, resulting in a smoother labor market integration.

Similar to other modern economies, Germany displays a high and nearly constant degree of gender segregation in the labor market, i.e. the concentration of men and women in specific occupations, resulting from the gender division of labor in market work (Reskin 1993, Reskin & Bielby 2005). This may be the result of both gender-specific human capital investments and cultural norms defining which jobs are 'appropriate' for men and women and thus influencing the occupational choices of school leavers as well as the hiring decisions of employers. Due to the strong occupational principle of the German training system, young women are channeled into different fields of training and study than men (for overviews cf. Smyth 2005, Seibert 2007), and segregation is reproduced in the labor market by the strong link between trained occupation and placement (Solga & Konietzka 2000, Trappe 2006). Thus, changes in the occupational structure affecting the demand for workers in male-dominated occupations differently than in female-dominated occupations have necessarily consequences for gender disparities at labor market entry. Figure 1 depicts the development of the share of the total of employees working in the three most important male-dominated and the four most important femaledominated employment sectors⁴ in East and West Germany between 1991 and 2005.⁵ It becomes immediately evident that over this time period the relative importance of the male-dominated sectors as employers decreased, whereas female-dominated sectors increased their share of total employees. As a result, the latter might have been able to absorb a higher number of labor market entrants. Since

⁴ These sectors together encompass around 70 percent of all employees in each year. Other sectors are either not clearly dominated by one gender (e.g. finance or real estate), are very small (e.g. mining or private services) or cannot be entered without a tertiary degree (e.g. education). None of the sectors included in the OECD data changed from being male-dominated to being female-dominated or vice versa between 1991 and 2005.

⁵ Unfortunately, no adequate data are available for the time before 1991.

gender-specific occupational preferences remained very stable over time (Seibert 2007), a decline in job opportunities in male-dominated occupations should lead to higher competition for jobs, and thus to longer transition periods for men. For women, this should not be the case, provided that the expansion of traditionally female jobs kept up with the increase in female employment rates as a whole.

	Low Sec Educa	Low Secondary Education		Medium Secondary Education		High Secondary Education		Dropouts	
Birth Cohort	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	
1965–1970	30.71	23.90	33.15	42.45	32.61	29.74	3.44	3.78	
1970–1975	27.92	22.09	32.27	39.20	36.00	34.29	3.53	4.27	
1975–1980	26.80	19.53	31.06	34.49	38.75	42.14	3.31	3.80	
1980–1985	28.09	18.43	34.17	36.30	33.92	41.90	3.45	3.37	

Table 1. Secondary education certificates in Germany by gender and birth cohort, row percentages

Source: Statistisches Bundesamt 2006, authors' own calculations.

To sum it up, women below higher secondary education in Germany increased their educational attainment relative to men. The occupational sectors displaying a high concentration of women gained a larger share of all employees, while male-dominated occupations lost importance as employers. At the same time, these developments improve women's competitiveness in the market. Consequently, both trends should lead to an improvement of women's labor market integration compared to men's if general economic trends and changes in family formation behavior are controlled for.





Source: OECD Labor Force Statistics, authors' own calculations.

3. Data and statistical modeling

For investigating gender disparities at labor market entry in Germany, we draw on the 1984 to 2007 waves of the German Socio-Economic Panel (GSOEP), a representative longitudinal survey carried out annually since 1984 and located at the German Institute for Economic Research (DIW) in Berlin. Beside a wide range of socio-economic background variables, the GSOEP provides a monthly activity calendar from which school-to-work transitions can be constructed. Our sample includes West German respondents only, because there is no data available from East German respondents before 1990. We defined school-to-work transitions as leaving school or vocational training without returning to any form of education within the next 12 months. This assures that we observe the actual labor market integration rather than a temporary job in between educational activities.⁶ In order to make sure that first labor market integration only is observed, the analysis was limited to young people under the age of 30 who first provided valid calendar data when they were 25 or younger. All subsequent job search episodes after leaving further education were neglected. We then followed the transition process until the individual school leaver entered full-time or part-time employment, dropped out of the survey, or reported other activities, e.g. maternity leave or further education. Overall, we observed 2,247 labor market entrants in 8,885 person-months.

Our main explanatory variables are gender, education, and entry cohort. We created four different educational groups based on information about general and vocational education at the time of labor market entry. The first group contains school dropouts and individuals with low secondary education without vocational training. Individuals with a medium secondary degree, but without vocational training make up the second group. The third and fourth groups consist of labor market entrants with low secondary education and vocational training and with medium secondary education and vocational training respectively. To accumulate a sufficient number of cases for analyzing clear time trends, we divided our sample into four school-leaver cohorts of a similar size. The first cohort left education between 1984 and 1988, the second between 1989 and 1994, the third between 1995 and 2000, and the fourth between 2001 and 2005. Moreover, we control for the annual vacancy ratio⁷ of the federal state the respective labor market entrant resides in as a measure of the general economic cycle between 1984 and 2005. Two variables indicating whether a person is married and has children as well as their interaction with gender are used to account for changes in family formation behavior that might also affect labor market entry. Additional control variables are age and ethnic background.

For the assessment of the effect of structural changes in the labor market on the transition from school to work we opted for an indirect approach because no appropriate measures of occupational change were available for our period of observation. Ideally, we would need a measure for the demand for (unskilled and semi-skilled) labor separately for sectors that typically employ men and women. As we

⁶ Most young men in Germany enter the military service (or alternative non-military national service) for about a year after leaving the educational system for the first time. Before determining the school-to-work transition we deleted all months in service from the activity calendar, so that these were neither considered as part of the 12 months' period mentioned above nor of any job search spell.

⁷ I.e. the number of vacant positions per unemployed worker.

control for individual education, cyclic changes of the labor market, and other important determinants of the transition from school to work, the residual effect of the entry cohort will provide some hints as to the consequences of structural changes in the labor market. Nonetheless, for an interpretation of our results one has to bear in mind that we do not conduct a definitive test of our hypotheses regard-ing the effect of occupational change on gender disparities at labor market entry.

In order to estimate the effect of our independent variables on the transition from school to work we use discrete event history modeling (Allison 2006, Singer & Willett 2003). In this approach, the monthly transition rate $h_{ii}(t)$ is defined as the conditional probability that an individual enters employment at time *t*, given that a transition has not taken place, yet:

$$h_{it}(t) = P(E_i = t | T_i \ge t, x_{it}).$$

The monthly transition rate of the complete sample simply equals the number of respondents who find employment in a given month, divided by the number of respondents who are still looking for a job. Thus, the problem of bias resulting from the exclusion of labor market entrants who are not observed to find a job within their window of participation in the GSOEP (i.e. right-censoring) is solved by taking them into account until they drop out of the sample.⁸ The effects of the vector of determinants x_{ii} on the transition rate can be estimated by using a logistic regression model for dichotomous dependent variables (Long 2000), where every month spent searching for employment is treated as a unique observation.⁹ A dummy variable indicating whether a respondent is employed in every respective month serves as the dependent variable. Additionally, we model duration dependence by including a linear term for the current duration of job search as well as its natural logarithm. This specification proved to be a good compromise between theoretical assumptions predicting a decreasing likelihood of finding a job after prolonged job search and the empirical shape of the transition rate.

4. Empirical evidence

In the following, we first estimate trends in gender disparities in terms of labor market entry chances, controlling only for the economic cycle, family formation, age, and ethnicity. This provides evidence as to how fast women in general entered the labor market compared to men over the last 20 years. In the next step, we also control for individual educational attainment as well as for multiple two-way and three-way interactions between gender, education, and entry cohort.¹⁰ With this second model we investigate to what extent changes in the educational composition can explain trends in the differences between men and women with respect to labor market integration. The interactions also allow us to

⁸ In our sample, 8.6 percent of job search episodes are right-censored, with women's spells being censored more often than men's.

⁹ Multiple observations per person are likely to lead to serial error correlation, so that robust standard errors have to be used in order to obtain valid significance tests.

¹⁰ The interpretation of interaction terms in non-linear models in the form of log-odds or odds ratios is associated with a number of problems (Ai & Norton 2003). We follow the statistical literature and calculate discrete change effects and absolute probabilities with their respective confidence intervals to solve these problems.

examine if gender disparities developed differently within the various educational groups. Before we turn to these multivariate results, however, we provide some descriptive evidence on the development of the educational attainment of men and women in our sample as well as the gendered patterns of labor market entry over time.

4.1 Descriptive results

Table 2 shows the distribution of schooling and vocational education for men and women from our four labor market entry cohorts. Similar to the official data from Table 1, we see that in all entry cohorts around 60 percent of women graduated from medium secondary school, whereas only half of the men in our sample did. The advantage of the GSOEP data is that we can also follow the development of vocational training for labor market entrants below higher secondary education. Cleary, both men and women have increased their participation in vocational training. For women, however, this increase was stronger: from 53 percent with vocational training in the first entry cohort to 69 percent in the last. The share of men with completed training grew only five percentage points from 58 percent to 63 percent. Medium secondary education with vocational training increased markedly in particular for women, from 31 percent to 49 percent. In the latest cohort, almost half of the women in the sample belong to this group, compared to only 28 percent of men. At the same time, the share of women in the lowest ranking group, i.e. low secondary education without vocational training, dropped from 31 percent to 15 percent. Men's share in this group also decreased, but merely from 30 percent to 23 percent. Thus, women extended their initial advantages in educational attainment relative to men. It is also noteworthy that the total number of men and women in the sample with low and medium education sank continually throughout the observation period, probably reflecting both sinking birth rates and educational expansion.

	Low Sec. Educ. w/o Voc. Train.		Medium Sec. Educ. w/o Voc. Train.		Low Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Train.		Medium Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Train.		N of Persons	
Entry Cohort	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Men
1984–1988 1989–1994 1995–2000 2001–2005	30.26 39.17 25.52 22.82	30.53 30.66 21.03 15.38	11.58 10.68 9.62 14.56	16.53 19.16 20.17 15.87	38.42 30.86 39.33 34.47	21.85 23.00 22.32 20.19	19.74 19.29 25.52 28.16	31.09 27.18 36.48 48.56	380 337 239 206	357 287 233 208

Table 2.	Educational attainment of German labor market entrants by gender and entry co-
	hort, row percentages

Source: GSOEP 1984–2007, authors' own calculations.

The empirical labor market entry patterns of men and women from the four transition cohorts are shown in Figure 2. As reported in previous research (Hillmert 2002, Gangl 2003, Scherer 2005,

Seibert & Kleinert 2009), labor market entry in Germany is generally smooth. A large majority of educational leavers is employed after only one month of job search in all cohorts, pointing to a frequent occurrence of continued employment of former apprentices in the same firm. It is also evident, however, that labor market integration for the last two cohorts takes longer than for the two cohorts before them. This might be a consequence of tightened labor market conditions in general, but also of increased competition from labor market entrants with higher secondary education, and/or due to a growing scarcity of training places. Regarding gender differences at the transition from school to work it can be seen that men enter the labor market faster than women in the first three cohorts. Only in the first two cohorts is the gender difference significant, and the gender gap decreases in each consecutive cohort. In the last cohort (2001–2005) women even outperform men in terms of the duration until finding their first job. This is a first hint that women were able to take advantage of their better education and that they profited from structural changes in the labor market.



Figure 2. Timing of labor market entry by gender and entry cohort, Kaplan-Meier estimates

Source: GSOEP 1984–2007, authors' own calculations.

4.2 Multivariate results

In this section we attempt to investigate the causes of the changing gender disparities at labor market entry using multivariate analyses. First, we control for the influence of changes in family formation behavior and the overall economic conditions and we account for shifts in the ethnic composition and age structure of leavers from low and medium secondary education. In the second step we assess the importance of education to shaping gender disparities at labor market entry by comparing men and women within the four educational groups we defined earlier. A look at the interaction of gender, education, and entry cohort will also provide some evidence as to what extent shifts in the occupational sectors are responsible for changes in gender disparities.

Figure 3 depicts the discrete change effect of gender on the probability to find employment (on the left) as well as the absolute probability to find employment for men and women over the four educational leavers' cohorts (on the right). Both are calculated at the first month after entering the labor market, because this is the time when the large majority of school leavers find their first job. The results basically replicate the descriptive findings from Figure 2 with one important exception: women are not significantly slower than men in finding their first job in the first three cohorts, once family formation behavior, economic conditions, age, and ethnic origin are controlled for. In the last cohort (2001–2005) women are faster than men in finding employment. This effect is significantly different from 0 and also from the effects observed in the three previous cohorts.

Figure 3. Gender differences in terms of the probability to find employment in the first month after labor market entry, discrete change effect of gender and probabilities obtained from Logistic Regression



Note: Estimates obtained from Model 1, in Table A 1 in the Appendix. Age and vacancy ratio are held constant at sample mean. Other covariates are held constant at mode (ethnicity=German; children=none, married=no, duration=1).

Source: GSOEP 1984–2007, authors' own calculations.

The absolute probabilities to find employment broken down by gender and cohort reveal that the improvement of women's labor market integration relative to that of men does not result from women entering the labor market faster in each consecutive cohort. Rather, men's prospects for labor market entry have deteriorated more quickly than women's over the four cohorts. Men entering the labor market between 2001 and 2005 took significantly longer to find their first job than their counterparts in the earlier cohorts. Although women show a similar tendency towards prolonged transitions, the differences between the female cohorts are not significant. As other possible determinants are held constant, most importantly the general economic conditions, the prolonged transition process for men is likely to reflect their lower average education, which has further been devalued in the course of growing skill requirements in the labor market and educational expansion.

Figure 4. Effect of gender on the probability of finding employment in the first month after labor market entry, discrete change effects by entry cohort and education obtained from Logistic Regression



Note: Estimates obtained from Model 2, in Table A 1 in the Appendix. Age and vacancy ratio are held constant at sample mean. Other covariates are held constant at mode (ethnicity=German; children=none, married=no, duration=1).

Source: GSOEP 1984–2007, authors' own calculations.

We now control for the effect of individual education on labor market entry by including measures of educational attainment as well as multiple two-way and three-way interactions between gender, edu-

cation, and entry cohort in our model (for details see Model 2 in Table A 1, in the Appendix). In Figure 4 we can see the effect of gender on the probability to find employment after one month of search calculated separately for our four educational groups. The results are somewhat surprising: A significant change in gender disparities between cohorts can only be detected for labor market entrants with low secondary education who have not completed vocational training. In this group, women enter the labor market significantly slower than men in the first two cohorts, whereas in the last cohort they are significantly faster than men. In the two groups with completed vocational training, there is no significant difference between women and men regarding labor market entry even in the cohort leaving education between 1984 and 1988. This remains true for all consecutive cohorts with no significant changes in the effects. In tendency, women in the two middle cohorts are even faster in finding a job than men, although the effect is not significant.

Figure 5. Probability of finding employment in the first month after labor market entry by gender, entry cohort, and education obtained from Logistic Regression



Note: Estimates obtained from Model 2, in Table A 1 in the Appendix. Age and vacancy ratio are held constant at sample mean. Other covariates are held constant at mode (ethnicity=German; children=none, married=no, duration=1).

Source: GSOEP 1984–2007, authors' own calculations.

Finally, leavers from medium secondary education without vocational training display a rather odd pattern of gender differences. In the first cohort women are not significantly different from men. For women from the subsequent cohort the differences increase significantly to their disadvantage, only to decrease again in the following two cohorts. However, the results for this group of labor market entrants have to be interpreted with caution as they contribute by far the smallest number of cases, thus increasing the uncertainty of the statistical inferences, as can been seen by relatively large confidence intervals. Overall, the results in Figure 4 suggest that once men and women attain a comparable educational level, there is hardly any difference between them in terms of the timing until they find their first job.

In order to examine the processes underlying the development of gender disparities, Figure 5 finally shows the absolute probabilities to find employment in the first month after leaving education by gender, education, and entry cohort. We see that for men and women with vocational education the likelihood of smooth labor market integration has decreased only slightly and not significantly over the years. Furthermore, labor market entrants without vocational education from the most recent entry cohort partly face a significantly smaller probability of finding a job as quickly as those from the earliest cohort. This is particularly evident for men from the lowest-ranking educational group. The increasing gap between entrants with vocational training and those without suggests that completing vocational training has become more important for a smooth labor market entry over time.

From our results it becomes clear that individual educational attainment goes a long way to explaining women's growing advantages at labor market entry within the group of labor market entrants with low and medium secondary schooling. Over the last 20 years, the already existing gap between women and men regarding education widened even further. In addition, the importance of education for a smooth labor market entry has continued to increase due to rising skill requirements in the labor market as a result of occupational upgrading. Hence, women's higher educational attainment helped them particularly in the later cohorts to enter their first job faster than men on average.

Overall, the results also provide some hints about the consequences of occupational change for gender disparities regarding labor market entry. Evidently, the growing demand for labor in the service sector has not yielded tangible gains for women, as the duration until they find their first job increased in all educational groups. For men, on the other hand, the loss of male-dominated jobs in production over the observation period seemingly affects particularly those labor market entrants with the lowest qualifications. Controlling for general economic trends, education, and other important determinants of the transition from school to work, the employment outlook of low-skilled men without vocational training is rapidly declining. However, these results have to be confirmed by a more direct investigation of the effect of occupational change on the labor market entry of men and women.

5. Summary and conclusion

In Germany, in contrast to most other modern economies, firms in the production sector remained the most important employer for a relatively long time. However, since the mid 1980s employees in the service sector have started to outnumber those in industrial occupations. As a byproduct of this development, many jobs typically occupied by low- and medium-skilled men have been lost, whereas the number of jobs in occupations with a large share of women has grown continually. In addition, educational expansion led to a marked increase in the average educational attainment of the population, particularly that of women. In this paper we investigated how these trends on the macrolevel of society influenced differences in the timing of labor market entry between individual men and women with low and medium secondary education. We expected that women profited from educational expansion and occupational change relative to men, as these trends should have increased both women's competitiveness in the market and the demand for their labor.

Both our descriptive and multivariate results showed that lower educated women today indeed enter the labor market faster than men on average, while they were slightly slower than men until the end of the 1990s. However, this change was not caused by women entering the labor market faster after leaving the educational system, but by a significant deterioration of men's prospects for smooth labor market integration. Further analyses revealed that this is largely due to men's lower educational attainment. Within the same educational group there were hardly any differences between men and women regarding labor market entry, with the exception of the lowest-ranking educational group, graduates from low secondary education without vocational training. In this group, men's initial advantages relative to those of women turned into significant disadvantages in the latest cohort.

Bearing in mind that we did not include any direct measures of occupational change in our analyses, the latter finding can be interpreted as a consequence of the decline of typically male jobs in production and affiliated occupations, as we control for the general economic cycle throughout our observation period. More specifically, apparently men had to face increasing job competition between 1984 and 2005, which created growing difficulties in finding their first job for market entrants with relatively low educational attainment. This may either be the consequence of downward competition accompanied by the crowding out of the weakest job seekers or simply the result of losing particularly those jobs that were taken by the least skilled workers. In order to gain a more detailed picture of these processes, further research needs to look at changes in the specific jobs held by labor market entrants with different qualifications.

In the case of women, we can conclude that the expansion of female-dominated occupational sectors did not produce absolute benefits, as there is a tentative increase in the duration until their first job is found even for women from the upper end of the educational spectrum. Our results suggest, however, that the growing number of jobs women traditionally entered helped to mitigate negative effects from the competition with an increased number of graduates from upper secondary school. Compared to men, women experienced a less severe deterioration of their employment prospects at labor market entry even in the lowest-ranking educational group. Altogether, our results confirm the view that

women with low and medium education benefited from educational expansion and occupational change regarding the duration until they find their first job, at least in relative terms.

Of course, our strict focus on the timing of labor market entry leaves open several important questions, as it entirely disregards the quality of the first job. For example, it is possible that young women's jobs offer fewer rewards in terms of status, wage or working conditions. It would be equally important to examine gender disparities regarding the opportunities for promotion in the first job. Further research certainly needs to address these issues.

Nonetheless, our findings regarding gender disparities in terms of the duration until the first job is found have several important implications for gender inequality in the labor market as a whole. First of all, the fact that women enter employment quickly means that their labor is highly valued by employers. Moreover, the recent improvements in the case of young women are likely to have a positive impact on their later work career as well and promise to further narrow the gender gap in the labor market. Key factors in this process are the growing educational credentials of women. In fact, men's failure to keep up with the developments in female educational attainment is likely to cause difficulties at labor market also for medium-skilled men, in particular if the tendency to enter male-dominated occupations remains unchanged. To date, there is no evidence pointing towards such a shift in male occupational preferences.

References

- Ai, C./Norton, E. C. (2003), "Interaction terms in logit and probit models", *Economic Letters*, 80, 123–129.
- Allison, P. D. (2006), *Event History Analysis. Regression for Longitudinal Event Data*, Newbury Park/London/New Delhi: Sage.
- Allmendinger, J. (1989), "Educational systems and labor market outcomes", *European Sociological Review*, 5(3), 231–250.
- Arum, R./Shavit, Y. (1995), "Secondary vocational education and the transition from school to work", *Sociology of Education,* 68(3), 187–204.
- Blossfeld, H.-P. (1992), "Is the German dual system a model for a modern vocational training system? A cross-national comparison of how different systems of vocational training deal with the changing occupational structure", *International Journal of Comparative Sociology*, 33(3–4), 168–181.
- Blossfeld, H.-P./Buchholz, S./Hofäcker, D. (eds.) (2006), *Globalization, Uncertainty, and Late Careers in Society,* London and New York: Routledge.
- Blossfeld, H.-P./Hofmeister, H. (2006) Globalization, Uncertainty, and Women's Careers: an International Comparison, Cheltenham, UK & Northhampton, MA: Edward Elgar.
- Breen, R./Hannan, D. F./O'Leary, R. (1995), "Returns to education: taking account of the employers' perception and use of educational credits", *European Sociological Review*, 11(1), 59–73.

Coleman, J. S. (1991), "Matching processes in the labor market", Acta Sociologica, 34(1), 3–12.

- Fitzenberger, B./Spitz, A. (2004), *Die Anatomie des Berufswechsels: Eine empirische Bestandsaufnahme auf Basis der BIBB/IAB-Daten 1998/1999*, Mannheim: ZEW (ZEW Discussion Paper No. 04–05).
- Gangl, M. (2002), "Changing labour markets and early career outcomes: Labour market entry in Europe over the past decade", *Work, Employment & Society,* 16(1), 67–90.
- Gangl, M. (2003), "Returns to education in context: individual education and transition outcomes in European labour markets", in: W. Müller/M. Gangl (eds.), *Transitions from Education to Work in Europe. The Integration of Youth into EU Labour Markets,* Oxford: Oxford University Press, 156–185.
- Goubert, L./Heylan, F. (1996), "Unemployment in Europe: A problem of relative or aggregate demand for labour?", *International Labour Review*, 135(1), 17–36.
- Hartung, S./Janik, F. (2006), *Frauen in der betrieblichen Berufsausbildung. Seltener am Start, genauso oft am Ziel*, Nuremberg: IAB (IAB Kurzbericht 15).
- Hillmert, S. (2002), "Labour market integration and institutions: an Anglo-German comparison", *Work, Employment & Society*, 19(4), 675–701.
- Korpi, T./de Graaf, P./Hendrickx, J./Layte, R. (2003), "Vocational training and career employment precariousness in Great Britain, the Netherlands and Sweden", *Acta Sociologica*, 46(1), 17–30.
- Logan, J. A. (1996), "Opportunity and choice in socially structured labor markets", *American Journal of Sociology*, 102(1), 114–160.
- Long, J. S. (2000), *Regression Models for Categorical and Limited Dependent Variables*, Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Marsden, D. (1990), "Institutions and labour mobility: occupational and internal labour markets in Britain, France, Italy, and West Germany", in: R. Brunetta/C. Dell' Aringa (eds.), *Labour Relations and Economic Performance*, Basingstoke: Macmillan, 414–438.
- Müller, W. (2001), "Zum Verhältnis von Bildung und Beruf in Deutschland. Entkoppelung oder zunehmende Strukturierung?" in: P. A. Berger/D. Konietzka (eds.), *Die Erwerbsgesellschaft. Neue Ungleichheiten und Unsicherheiten,* Opladen: Leske + Budrich, 29–64.
- Müller, W./Steinmann, S./Ell, R. (1998), "Education and labour-market entry in Germany", in: Y. Shavit/W. Müller (eds.), From School to Work. A Comparative Study of Educational Qualifications and Occupational Destinations, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 143–188.
- Penn, R./Rose, M./Rubery, J. (eds.) (1994), *Skill and Occupational Change,* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Reinberg, A./Hummel, M. (2006), "Zwanzig Jahre Bildungsgesamtrechnung. Entwicklungen im Bildungs- und Erwerbssystem Ost- und Westdeutschlands bis zum Jahr 2000", *Beiträge zur Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung 306*, Nuremberg: IAB.
- Reskin, B. (1993), "Sex segregation in the workplace", Annual Review of Sociology, 19, 241–270.
- Reskin, B./Bielby, D. D. (2005), "A sociological perspective on gender and career outcomes", *Journal* of *Economic Perspectives*, 19(1), 71–86.
- Scherer, S. (2005), "Patterns of labour market entry long wait or career instability? An empirical comparison of Italy, Great Britain and West Germany", *European Sociological Review*, 21(5), 427–440.

- Schubert, F./Engelange, S. (2006), "Die Bildungsexpansion und berufsstruktureller Wandel", in: A. Hadjar/R. Becker (eds.), *Die Bildungsexpansion. Erwartete und unerwartete Folgen,* Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften, 93–123.
- Seibert, H. (2007), Berufswechsel in Deutschland: Wenn der Schuster nicht bei seinen Leisten bleibt..., Nuremberg: IAB (IAB Kurzbericht 01/2007).
- Seibert, H./Kleinert, C. (2009), *Duale Berufsausbildung: Ungelöste Probleme trotz Entspannung*, Nuremberg: IAB (IAB Kurzbericht/2009).
- Shavit, Y./Müller, W. (eds.) (1998), From School to Work. A Comparative Study of Educational Qualifications and Occupational Destinations, Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Singer, J. D./Willett, J. B. (2003), Applied Longitudinal Data Analysis, Oxford: Oxford Univ. Press.
- Smyth, E. (2005), "Gender differentiation and early labour market integration across Europe", *European Societies*, 7(3), 451–479.
- Solga, H./Konietzka, D. (2000), "Das Berufsprinzip des deutschen Arbeitsmarktes: Ein geschlechtsneutraler Allokationsmechanismus?", *Swiss Journal of Sociology*, 26(1), 111–147.
- Sørensen, A. B./Kalleberg, A. L. (1981), "An outline of a theory of the matching of persons to jobs", in: I. Berg (ed.), *Sociological Perspectives on Labor Markets,* New York: Academic Press, 49–74.
- Soskice, D. (1994), "Reconciling markets and institutions: The German apprenticeship system", in: L. M. Lynch (ed.), *Training and the Private Sector: International Comparisons,* Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 25–60.
- Statistisches Bundesamt (2006), Bildung im Zahlenspiegel 2006, Wiesbaden: Statistisches Bundesamt.
- Thurow, L. C. (1975), *Generating Inequality: Mechanisms of Distribution in the U.S. Economy*, New York: Basic Books.
- Trappe, H. (2006), "Berufliche Segregation im Kontext. Über einige Folgen geschlechtstypischer Berufsentscheidungen", *Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie*, 58(1), 50–78.
- van der Velden, R. K. W./Wolbers, M. H. J. (2003), "The integration of young people into the labour market: the role of training systems and labour market regulation", in: W. Müller/M. Gangl (eds.), *Transitions from Education to Work in Europe. The Integration of Youth into EU Labour Markets,* Oxford: Oxford University Press, 186–211.

Appendix

Table A 1. Determinants of the duration until first job, parameter estimates obtained from Logistic Regression, logit coefficients

	Model 1		Model 2	
	b	(SE)	b	(SE)
Female	-0.188	(0.144)	-0.566*	(0.223)
Female*Cohort 89-94	-0.049	(0.206)	-0.143	(0.316)
Female*Cohort 95-00	0.068	(0.199)	0.880**	(0.326)
Female*Cohort 00-05	0.696**	(0.210)	1.265**	(0.381)
Cohort 89-94	-0.017	(0.163)	0.207	(0.239)
Cohort 95-00	-0.482**	(0.151)	-0.700**	(0.220)
Cohort 01-05	-0.935**	(0.156)	-1.487**	(0.260)
Female*Cohort 89-94*Med. Sec. Educ. w/o Voc. Trai.			-0.932	(0.693)
Female*Cohort 95-00*Med. Sec. Educ. w/o Voc. Trai.			-1.500*	(0.608)
Female*Cohort 00-05*Med. Sec. Educ. w/o Voc. Trai.			-1.500*	(0.651)
Female*Cohort 89-94*Low Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Trai.			0.301	(0.489)
Female*Cohort 95-00*Low Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Trai.			-1.448**	(0.503)
Female*Cohort 00-05*Low Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Trai.			-0.834	(0.559)
Female*Cohort 89-94*Med. Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Trai.			1.120	(0.603)
Female*Cohort 95-00*Med. Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Trai.			-0.402	(0.606)
Female*Cohort 00-05*Med. Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Trai.			-0.379	(0.611)
Female*Med. Sec. Educ. w/o Voc. Trai.			0.532	(0.417)
Female*Low Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Trai.			0.686*	(0.338)
Female*Med. Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Trai.			0.055	(0.431)
Cohort 89-94*Med. Sec. Educ. w/o Voc. Trai.			0.122	(0.570)
Cohort 95-00*Med. Sec. Educ. w/o Voc. Trai.			-0.206	(0.457)
Conort 00-05 [^] Med. Sec. Educ. w/o Voc. Trai.			0.480	(0.480)
Conort 89-94 [^] Low Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Trai.			-0.148	(0.338)
Conort 95-00°Low Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Trai.			0.569	(0.345)
Conort 00-05°Low Sec. Educ. W/ Voc. Trai.			0.992**	(0.363)
Conort 89-94 Med. Sec. Educ. W/ Voc. Iral.			-1.155*	(0.457)
Conort 95-00"Med. Sec. Educ. W/ Voc. Trai.			-0.150	(0.460)
Conort UU-U5"Med. Sec. Educ. W/ Voc. Trai.			0.406	(0.461)
Med. Sec. Educ. W/O Voc. Trai.			0.733	(0.318)
Low Sec. Educ. w/ Voc. Trai.			0.324	(0.245)
Duration	0 171**	(0.010)	1.110	(0.353)
In(Duration)	0.171	(0.010)	0.179	(0.010)
Non Corman	-2.470	(0.009)	-2.410	(0.009)
	-0.514	(0.078)	-0.433	(0.000)
Age squared	0.031**	(0.174)	0.940	(0.101)
Age-squared Married	0.051	(0.004)	-0.021	(0.00+)
Female*Married	-0.150	(0.237)	-0.002	(0.227)
Children	0.030	(0.200)	0.215	(0.202)
Female*Children	-1 804**	(0.200)	-1 663**	(0.200)
Local Vacancy Ratio	2 422**	(0.504)	2 743**	(0.500)
Intercept	1.242**	(0.121)	0.818**	(0.180)
N-Persons		2,247		2,247
N-Person-Months		8,885		8,885
Log-Likelihood		-2,725.10		-2,651.06

Note: Robust standard errors (in parentheses). Reference categories: male, cohort 84-88, Low Sec. Educ. w/o Voc. Train., German, not married, no children.

*p <.05. **p <.01.

Source: GSOEP 1984-2007, own calculations.